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Honor is like an island.
 Steep and without shore: 
They who once leave,
 Can never return.
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INTRODUCTION


“. . . I have suffered, in seeing the fair fabric of reputation, which I have been with so much danger and toil raising since the present war, undermined by those, whose posterity (as well as themselves) will feel the blessed effects of my efforts. . .”


—Benedict Arnold, summation at 
his court-martial, January 1780


“Treason! Treason! Black as hell—That a man so high on the list of fame should be guilty as Arnold, must be attributed not only to original sin, but actual transgression. . . . We were all astonishment, each peeping at his next neighbor to see if any treason was hanging about him: nay, we even descended to a critical examination of ourselves . . .”


—Adjutant General Colonel Alexander Scammell, 
eight days after Arnold’s flight


Two centuries after Benedict Arnold’s death the most infamous man in American history remains a two-dimensional caricature in the minds of most Americans: wicked, self-serving, and greedy. Numerous books have now cast his young wife Peggy as equally evil, an Eve tempting her husband into treason. Yet Arnold repeatedly risked his life and sacrificed his fortune for the patriot cause. As for Peggy, the charges against her are based on flimsy evidence contradicted by her own actions, by eyewitness accounts, and by the historical record. Replacing the cardboard cutouts that pass for historical portraits of Arnold and Peggy with a more authentic picture makes their actions, if still culpable in Arnold’s case, at least more understandable; exonerates Peggy; and exposes the bitter animosities within the patriot party. It also helps us make sense of the wild fury that greeted Arnold’s betrayal, bringing us closer to the people and frightfulness of that time. That task is the aim of this book.


Arnold was a national hero before he abandoned the patriot cause, and no wonder. He has been reckoned the most brilliant officer on either side of the Revolutionary War. He had that rare ability to inspire men to follow him into the face of death, even when, as at the decisive battle of Saratoga, he was stripped of military command. J. W. Fortescue, author of a classic study of the British army, described Arnold as possessing “all the gifts of a great commander. To boundless energy and enterprise he united quick insight into a situation, sound strategic instinct, audacity of movement, wealth of resource, a swift and unerring eye in action, great personal daring, and true magic of leadership.”1


He was courageous, resourceful, and, like most men of his time and rank, keenly jealous of his personal honor. When he joined the British side he forfeited that honor forever. Americans greeted the news of his betrayal with outrage, burning him in effigy, while the British never fully trusted him. His was a tragic fall from fame to infamy. We are left wondering why Arnold abandoned the cause for which he sacrificed his health and wealth, and why—when so many others did the same, or prudently kept in contact with the British, or simply abandoned the patriot cause—Arnold’s treason has been branded singularly egregious. Contrary to prevailing myths numerous prominent Americans remained neutral, profiteered on the war, preferred the comparative safety of politics to the battlefield, or returned to their families and businesses when their commissions in the Continental Army proved dangerous and thankless. Yet Arnold alone bears the mark of Cain.


Are these questions worth answering? Isn’t it enough to know that whatever else he accomplished, the man was a traitor? In the early nineteenth century when Lewis Burd Walker, a descendant of Arnold’s second wife, approached publishers about writing a book about Arnold, he was assured no one would want to read about the traitor. Americans enjoy reading about the patriots of the founding era, as an ever growing library of books about them attests. Despite publishers rejecting Walker’s proposal, some books have also been written about “the traitor.” These and other studies that do grapple with why he committed treason and why his actions were deemed so egregious have arrived at various answers.


Arnold’s contemporaries and earliest biographers insisted that he was a vicious individual—period. Jared Sparks, later president of Harvard, set the tone for this wholesale blackening of Arnold’s entire life. Sparks finds no tale of Arnold’s sinfulness as a child too bizarre to be believed. His The Life and Treason of Benedict Arnold, published in 1835, informed readers that one of Benedict Arnold’s “earliest amusements” was to snatch baby birds from their nests in order “to maim and mangle” them “in sight of the old ones, that he might be diverted by their cries.”2 This naughty boy also enjoyed strewing broken glass in a nearby schoolyard so the children “would cut their feet in coming from the school.” For Sparks, only the timely death of Arnold’s devout mother relieved her “from the anguish of witnessing her son’s career of ambition without virtue, of glory tarnished with crime, and of depravity ending in infamy and ruin.”3 Here was a thoroughly bad child destined to mature into a very bad man. Arnold’s military achievements had already been dismissed by his personal enemies as merely self-serving, reckless bravado.


Charles Royster, in A Revolutionary People at War, writes that Arnold’s contemporaries “saw more than a criminal in Arnold—they saw a freak.”4 “They did not try hard to devise new ways to thwart potential traitors,” because “there could be only one Arnold and when his country talked about him, that is what they said—over and over, in exhaustive detail and fervent imagery—there could be only one Arnold.”5


This indictment begs the question why Arnold had behaved so heroically and generously. Was the dishonorable treatment he received over and over again from Congress and his rivals mere slights any right-thinking man should have ignored? Or were his attackers, especially those in Congress, anxious to diminish a popular general, frightened Arnold might copy Oliver Cromwell and seize power? Why the focus on Arnold’s supposed flaws anyway? Several later authors have presented a more balanced account, and I am greatly indebted to their work.6 Isaac Newton Arnold—a distant relation—published The Life of Benedict Arnold; His Patriotism and His Treason in 1880. He hoped, “The time may come . . . when there will mingle with his condemnation that infinite pity . . . that a nature so heroic and with a record so brilliant, should have been driven, by a sense of bitter wrong and the violence of his passions, to a crime so inexcusable.”7 More than a century later, in 1990, Willard Sterne Randall’s massive biography, Benedict Arnold: Patriot and Traitor appeared. Seven years afterward James Kirby Martin produced an equally massive biography, Benedict Arnold: Revolutionary Hero: An American Warrior Reconsidered, that unfortunately ends without covering Arnold’s growing defection, the influence, if any, of his young wife Margaret Shippen, his treason, and its aftermath. Dave R. Palmer pairs Arnold’s life with that of Washington in George Washington and Benedict Arnold: A Tale of Two Patriots, as does Nathaniel Philbrick in Valiant Ambition: George Washington, Benedict Arnold, and the Fate of the American Revolution. Apart from Philbrick none of these authors had the advantage of Russell M. Lea’s invaluable collection of Arnold’s war correspondence published in 2008, or knew of the cache of Arnold’s papers recently discovered in Quebec. None has reevaluated the role of his wife in the treason.


No less than seven recent books focus on the supposed wicked machinations of his beautiful young wife, Margaret Shippen.8 This trend began in 1941 when Carl Van Doren, in his Secret History of the American Revolution, claimed to have found convincing evidence she was an active promoter of his defection, overturning the long-held belief in her innocence. The daughter of a distinguished, neutral Philadelphia family is now viewed as having inveigled her husband into joining the British cause. Peggy is now nearly as infamous as her husband. However, my reexamination of Van Doren’s evidence, along with research into Peggy’s behavior, presents a compelling case for her innocence. Good story as these new books tell, they have damned an innocent woman. As George Washington, Alexander Hamilton, Peggy’s family, those who knew her believed, she was not guilty.


A book about Arnold’s life and times is well worth bringing to a wider public because the story it tells is so illuminating. It provides a keener understanding of a talented and flawed man and the meaning of loyalty in the revolutionary context, but it also exposes the bitter tensions within the revolutionary cause and the impact of what was a civil war on the lives of ordinary people. Beyond its historical value Arnold’s story is a thrilling one. The Tragedy of Benedict Arnold casts a wide net, treating Arnold’s personal and public life and the lively cast of characters that peopled his world. The goal is to recover, as far as possible, both the man and his time, and to improve our understanding of both. The aim is not to condone Arnold but to understand why a man who had risked everything for the patriot cause took that desperate decision to turn against it, earning not the success he hoped for, but lasting opprobrium.


The book opens at the battle of Saratoga. Arnold, stripped of command by General Horatio Gates, bursts from his tent and leads the successful charge against the British but is grievously wounded. He is carried from the field, and General Gates, who never set foot on it during the fighting, takes credit for the spectacular victory. When Arnold returns home after a painful hospital stay the narrative then turns to Arnold’s childhood. That once happy period ended abruptly when his father’s business, and with it Benedict’s expectations, collapsed. Benedict was withdrawn from his boarding school and returned home to suffer the humiliation of an indebted and increasingly drunken father. He was apprenticed to kindly relatives and managed to restore his personal and family standing. But this background sets the stage for his lifelong struggle for honor and respect. The sense of shame the family suffered in the confines of a small Connecticut town and the eighteenth-century concept of personal honor would become a crucial facet of the young man’s life.


The biography deals with Arnold’s personal and professional life, the looming political crisis, and Arnold’s extraordinary military adventures—his storming of Ticonderoga, his harrowing trek through the wilderness of Maine to attack Canada, his amazing naval battle with ships he built against a powerful British fleet on Lake Champlain that saved New York, his relief of Fort Stanwix in 1777, his crucial leadership at Saratoga. These successes took place amid the unremitting attacks of personal enemies and the suspicion congressmen had of their own army officers, fearful one might become another Cromwell. To prevent this, Congress micromanaged the army and court-martialed officers on the slightest pretext. As a protégé of Washington and General Schuyler, and a popular hero, Arnold was attacked by those hostile to his patrons.


The Tragedy of Benedict Arnold tracks Arnold’s growing dismay and disaffection. As commander of Philadelphia he coped with the constant complaints of the radical Pennsylvania government and Congress’s neglect and disrespect. These culminated in his court-martial and conviction in the bitter winter of 1779. Finally, the book recounts Arnold’s approach to the British, the unfolding of his plot, the capture and execution of the much-admired spymaster, John André, and Arnold’s subsequent treatment by the British commanders. The sad fortunes of his lovely wife Peggy are detailed as she seeks to remain with her family in Philadelphia but is ordered to join her husband in exile by the Pennsylvania government.


The book follows Arnold and Peggy’s life after his flight. The British immediately tested Arnold’s conversion to their cause by sending him with a small troop of British and German soldiers on forays first into Virginia, home of his devoted friend and commander, George Washington, and then into Connecticut, his home state. The frustrating final years of Arnold and Peggy’s life in England and Canada, and final thoughts, conclude the book.


Why has Arnold’s treason been treated so particularly viciously? Perhaps his contemporaries’ singling him out for the harshest opprobrium is not surprising. Once the revolution’s heroic general defected, it served the interest of the patriot party and everyone whose devotion was somewhat suspect to distinguish Arnold from his former colleagues and from all those who remained quietly ambivalent. If Arnold was uniquely wicked everyone else was exonerated. Eliot Cohen, in Conquered into Liberty, suggests an explanation for this insistence on Arnold the villain:


The demonization of Arnold served a rhetorical purpose in a new United States struggling to establish its identity, and perhaps in a post–Civil War United States struggling to recover its unity. But the price . . . is unwarrantable and unjustly to forget or exculpate, the circumstances and individuals that drove him to betray his country, and to reduce a tragic figure to a mere caricature.9


To understand this complex man it is necessary to examine his personal and public life and the people who shared his time and place. It is necessary to pierce the memoirs of those contemporaries and historians who viewed Arnold through the lens of his defection and betrayal and instead see events as they happened.


Various aspects of the cultural world of late eighteenth-century America deserve attention and explanation in advance. For Arnold and most men of that era personal honor and reputation was of preeminent importance. This was particularly true for men born into the upper class but perhaps even more for those, like Arnold, aspiring to regain that status. Insults or slights to one’s honor or to the reputation of loved ones demanded to be challenged, even at the risk of death. Failure to do so likely meant disgrace. The Arnold family had been a leading family in the early history of Rhode Island. Arnold’s immediate family’s fortunes, so promising in his youth, suffered a catastrophic downturn as his father’s business collapsed and the senior Arnold became a public drunkard and debtor. When Benedict was abruptly recalled from the boarding school that was preparing him for entrance to Yale University, and enrolled as an apothecary apprentice, he dedicated himself to restoring his family’s social and economic status, and along with it his personal self-esteem and honor. This was an uphill struggle in a small Connecticut town whose residents kept a watchful eye on each other. Further, despite the opportunity America offered immigrants, class bigotry crossed the Atlantic with the settlers. America’s elite college-educated professionals and landowners often looked down on merchants, even successful ones.


Arnold’s problems with Congress were to some extent a reflection of the long-standing British prejudice against the military profession, especially professional armies. William Blackstone, in his bestseller, Commentaries on the Laws of England, published just before the American Revolution, insisted, “in a land of liberty it is extremely dangerous to make a distinct order of the profession of arms.”10 Blackstone counseled Englishmen to look upon professional soldiers “as temporary excrescences bred out of the distemper of the State, and not as any part of the permanent and perpetual laws of the Kingdom.”11 The citizen militia, by contrast, was considered honorable, virtuous, and safe, or as the American Second Amendment would put it, “the necessary security of a free state.” Arnold started out in the Connecticut militia but joined the newly formed Continental Army and remained there. Patriots like John Adams had no patience with the slights America’s army officers felt when passed over for promotion. He famously likened them to monkeys scrambling after nuts. Yet Adams and other politicians, members of Congress and state assemblies, were equally, if not more, jealous of their prerogatives. Congress micromanaged its army, fearful of the possibility it might produce a popular general who would seize power and send the delegates packing. Thus the endless second guessing by those Fortescue labeled “the lawyers and praters at Philadelphia,” hauling before a court-martial any officer who abandoned a fort or fell victim to an ambush.12 Although Congress failed to pay Arnold and his men for years on end, the delegates insisted he account for every penny advanced for a campaign. George Washington had enormous patience with such meddling, but Arnold lacked the commander’s diplomatic gift. On the contrary, his brusque manner with militia officers he felt were behaving in a cowardly or undisciplined fashion earned him a growing list of tenacious enemies.


The patriots themselves were divided politically between moderates and radicals. This division became so bitter it led to a shoot-out in Philadelphia between moderates such as James Wilson and the militia of the state’s radical Executive Council. Even Lafayette was dismayed at factions within the Continental Congress, writing Washington, “There are open dissentions in Congress; parties who hate one another as much as the common enemy.”13 Once exposed the ugliness and division buried beneath the surface of the patriot side gives a different cast to Arnold’s experience and to our sense of the war.


This book begins just as Arnold receives a grievous wound to his leg as he is leading the decisive assault on the British lines at the battle of Saratoga. A large force of British and German soldiers, Canadians, and Indians under General John Burgoyne had advanced from Canada in 1777, part of an elaborate plan to conquer New York State. Washington had sent Arnold north to bolster the forces trying to stop the British army. On the day of the crucial battle Arnold had been confined to his tent by his angry commander, General Gates. Unwilling to be a bystander at so critical a time he galloped onto the battlefield to the cheers of the men. Without any official command, Arnold led them to victory, grievously wounded in the process. The narrative then goes back to his childhood and chapter by chapter follows the dramatic triumphs and bitter frustrations of his life. The final chapters trace his decision to abandon the American cause, his discovery and flight, and the tragedy this brought upon him and his entire family.


Arnold’s is a life worth retelling. It has been more than ten years since Martin’s incomplete biography was published. It is time to put Arnold’s life and tragedy in a more complete and nuanced context, one accessible to a larger audience. How else can we understand the sole memorial to Arnold’s contribution to the American cause, a stone carving of a boot, erected in 1887 at the Saratoga battle site? It is the only American war memorial that does not bear the name of its honoree, instead symbolizing Arnold’s leg, shattered leading the American army to victory at Saratoga. The dedication on the back of the marker reads:


In memory of the most brilliant soldier of the Continental Army who was Desperately wounded on this spot the sally port of BURGOYNES GREAT WESTERN REDOUBT 7th October, 1777 winning for his countrymen the Decisive battle of the American Revolution and for himself the rank of Major General.




THE TRAGEDY of
 BENEDICT ARNOLD




ONE


The Price of Honor


“. . . if the conflict at Saratoga was one of the great battles which have influenced the fate of nations; if this was the decisive contest of the Revolution; if it was fought by Arnold, and his blood contributed to the victory, should he not have the credit, so dearly earned? Give all honor to Schuyler; give to Morgan, Stark, Dearborn, and others, all praise as brave partisans, but let history be just and truthful, and record that Benedict Arnold was the hero of the campaign of 1777, and of the battles of Saratoga.”


—Isaac Newton Arnold, 
The Life of Benedict Arnold


As Benedict Arnold and his horse fell, Captain Dearborn called out, asking where Arnold had been hit. “In the same leg,” Arnold answered, “I wish it had been my heart.”1 It was late afternoon on October 7, 1777 at Bemis Heights, the second and final battle of Saratoga. The American forces were fighting desperately to stop General John Burgoyne’s troops from breaking through and moving south to take the city of Albany, on their way to separating New York from New England. The British were just as desperate, their dwindling force needing a victory before winter. After hours of fierce fighting Arnold discovered the British sally point, the spot where their lines opened for retreating soldiers, the point where the British army was most vulnerable. He immediately rallied the men and led a furious charge at it. The German defenders panicked, turning to take one final volley. One bullet hit Arnold’s splendid, dark horse, killing the powerful animal. Arnold was a superb rider. Other horses had been shot under him in other battles, in some battles two horses had been shot. As this horse fell though, a musket ball struck Arnold’s left leg shattering the bone just above the knee. It was the same leg injured a year earlier during the unsuccessful assault on Quebec. Arnold shouted to his men as he fell, “Rush on, my brave boys, rush on.!”2 And rush on they did, streaming through the British embankment. The day would be theirs.


Arnold waved off the first officers who rushed to help him. A surgeon glancing at his injury feared his leg might need to be amputated.3 Arnold would listen to “no such d—d nonsence,” insisting “if that was all the surgeon had to say, the men should lift him upon his horse, and he would see the action through.” It was a wounded Hessian soldier who had managed to lift himself up and shoot Arnold. John Redman, an American private, had seen Arnold fall and rushed to bayonet the German. But Arnold shouted to Redman from the ground where he lay helpless and in pain, “Don’t hurt him, he did but his duty, he is a fine fellow.”4 Major John Armstrong, whom Gates had sent to intercept Arnold caught up with him now to return him to headquarters. Arnold would have none of it. In the end it was the men of Asa Bray’s Connecticut militia company, proud the fighting general was one of their own, who placed him gently on a litter and carried their bleeding hero to the field hospital. Afterward he had endured the three-day trip down the Hudson River to Albany fifty miles away, where the military hospital was already overflowing with injured and dying men of both armies.


While Arnold lay in excruciating pain in the military hospital in Albany, General Horatio Gates, who had never set foot on the battlefield that day, was negotiating the terms of surrender and taking credit for the victory. Gates was jealous and vindictive, especially since Arnold was the hero of the battle at Freeman’s Farm in September, the first phase of what was to be the battle of Saratoga. Gates had stripped Arnold of his command and, when Arnold decided to yield to the entreaties of other officers and men and remain in the camp, Gates confined him to his tent. But even without any command Arnold could not remain idle while the men were fighting and had galloped off to join them. It was Gates who chose to remain in his tent that day.


Benedict Arnold was just thirty-six. He was solidly built. As an old soldier who served with him at Bemis Heights put it, “there wasn’t any waste timber in him.”5 His complexion was ruddy from outdoor living since childhood, his height middling, his hair dark, his eyes gray. “Dark Eagle,” an Indian guide had dubbed him during the harrowing trek through the Maine wilderness to Quebec. Before the war he was a successful Connecticut merchant, captaining his own ships in the Atlantic trade. Much of his fortune was now gone, spent on the patriot cause or ruined by the war. The merchant turned soldier had turned out to be a military genius: brave, inspiring, insightful, driven as were so many men of his generation, with the quest for honor and jealous of personal reputation. His exploits had made him one of the revolutionary army’s best-known heroes, a legend. The troops loved him. “He was our fighting general,” that old soldier explained, “and a bloody fellow he was. He didn’t care for nothing; he’d ride right in. It was ‘Come on boys’—’twasn’t ‘Go, boys.’ He was as brave a man as ever lived.”6 Arnold was brusque though, and dogged by a growing and tenacious string of enemies who accused him of being reckless, greedy, self-serving, and dishonest. The greater his fame, the greater their determination to destroy his reputation. The long agonizing months in the military hospital in Albany gave him ample time to reflect on where all his courage and zeal for the patriot cause had brought him.


Albany with its three hundred houses was 160 miles north of New York City.7 Some one thousand sick and wounded men were crowded into the city. The substantial military hospital there, built during the French and Indian War, could accommodate five hundred patients in forty wards. The old Dutch church and several private homes were also turned into hospitals.8 The injured foreign soldiers were under the care and management of their own surgeons. Dr. James Thacher, a surgeon with the American army at Albany, was present at some of the more serious operations and praised the English surgeons for their skill and dexterity. However, he found some of the German doctors “the most uncouth and clumsy operators I ever witnessed, and appear to be destitute of all sympathy and tenderness toward the suffering patient.”9 Like military doctors before and since, Dr. Thacher found the long hours and terrible wounds “a fine field for professional improvement. Amputating limbs, trepanning fractured skulls, and dressing the most formidable wounds, have familiarized my mind to scenes of woe.” Still Dr. Thacher had a kind heart. “A military hospital,” he judged, “peculiarly calculated to afford examples for profitable contemplation and to interest our sympathy and commiseration.” Dr. Thacher described the grim atmosphere in that hospital where Arnold languished month after weary month. The hospital made for odd bedfellows. Arnold was placed next to British Major John Dyke Acland, whose troops had battled the Continentals so obstinately on Bemis Heights.10 


The surgeons wanted to amputate Arnold’s leg. That was a sensible precaution. A badly wounded limb could putrefy, get gangrenous, and result in death. But if his leg were amputated above the knee Arnold would be a cripple for the rest of his life. He was a widower with three young sons. His wife had died two years earlier, while he was away on duty. What sort of future would he or they have now? Better death than such a life. Better to have been hit in the heart, as he told Captain Dearborn, than live in that helpless condition. He was still a young man and had always been physically active. So he chose to endure the pain of a slow recovery—splinters of bone could not be removed—with its risk of death but hope for healing. He was not a patient patient, however. After spending a night watching “the celebrated General Arnold,” Dr. Thacher found him “very peevish, and impatient under his misfortunes, and required all my attention during the night,” though the good doctor confessed he managed to slip away for an hour to write a letter to a friend.11 General Lincoln was also a patient in the Albany hospital. He was second in command at Saratoga but, like Gates, was not on the field where the battle took place that last day. Lincoln was an able commander though, and more diplomatic than Arnold. Gates had assigned him to lead the right wing on October 7, but the action was on the left and center. He received a wound to his right leg in a skirmish the following day.


By December 20 Thacher cheerfully noted that the wounded soldiers committed to his care in October “have all recovered” and he had received “a generous and handsome present” from Dr. Potts the surgeon-general for his good work. The hospital was now so quiet he obtained a forty-day furlough to visit friends in New England.12 Yet when Dr. J. Brown, another army surgeon, visited the hospital the day before Christmas, both Arnold and Lincoln were still there. Dr. Brown found General Lincoln “in a fair way of recovery” behaving as “the patient Christian.”13 “Not so the gallant General Arnold,” he wrote, “for his wound, though less dangerous in the beginning than Lincoln’s, is not in so fair a way of healing. He abuses us for a set of ignorant pretenders.”14 They were not pretenders, of course, but with the skills they had they could not make him whole.


The formal surrender of the British army took place on October 17, ten days after the battle. General Burgoyne had little option. His army was surrounded. His retreat had been cut off. Winter was coming on and he was short of provisions. His ranks were devastated by the loss of too many officers and men, with no hope of reinforcements. During four hours of fighting, more than one third of the British troops involved were wounded, killed, or taken prisoner.15 Roger Lamb, a private in the British army wrote,: “Few actions have been characterized by more obstinancy in attack or defence.” Burgoyne’s 62nd regiment that began fighting with 350 men by early evening had only four or five officers and sixty soldiers who were still effective. One artillery detachment had its captain and thirty-six of its forty-eight men killed or wounded.16 At first Gates demanded unconditional surrender.17 When that was rejected he abruptly switched tactics, agreeing to unusually generous terms for fear that General Clinton might bring a British army from New York to rescue Burgoyne. According to the agreed upon terms the British troops were to march out of their camp with the full honors of war, laying down their weapons under the supervision of their own officers. Their army would then be given safe conduct to Boston where a British fleet would be allowed to return them to England, terms that Congress ultimately would not carry out. 


For the British regulars honorable terms could not disguise the sadness and humiliation of the occasion. Barely 3,500 of Burgoyne’s men remained, the remnant of the seven thousand man force that had left Canada.18 “About 10 o’clock we marched out,” Lieutenant Digby wrote, “with drums beating and the honors of war, but the drums seemed to have lost their former inspiring sounds, and though we beat the Grenadiers march, which not long before was so animating, yet then it seemed by its last feeble efforts as if almost ashamed to be heard on such an occasion.”19 Near to tears himself, Digby was struck by the demeanor of the ragtag American troops that lined the field: “I shall never forget the appearance of the troops on our marching past them. [A] dead silence universally reigned through their numerous columns and even then they seemed struck with our situation and dare scarce life up their eyes to view British troops in such a situation. I must say their decent behavior during the time (to us so greatly fallen) merited the utmost commendation and praise.”20


Gates had given his young adjutant, Major James Wilkinson, the honor of reporting the wonderful victory directly to Congress. Protocol demanded Gates report it to Washington instead, but he deeply resented the commander in chief and, helped by supporters in Congress, had been agitating to replace him. Bypassing Washington was an act of insubordination. Washington learned of the triumph of his northern army informally from another officer. Wilkinson was in no hurry to deliver the exciting news to Congress and took fifteen days to reach them, stopping along the way to do a little courting. Congress overlooked his cavalier behavior in its jubilation over the victory and, somewhat reluctantly rewarded Wilkinson with a lieutenant colonelcy as Gates had asked, thereby bypassing many experienced field officers of higher rank, needlessly upsetting many good men.21 Congress was also intent upon honoring Horatio Gates, the triumphant general. On November 4 delegates voted that a gold medal should be struck in his honor stamped horatio gates, duci strenuo, comitia americana: The American Congress to Horatio Gates, the gallant leader.


All the undeserved tribute lavished on Gates simply added to Arnold’s misery. Congress had still not even given him the seniority he deserved when it promoted five junior officers, including Lincoln, ahead of him earlier that year. When an adjustment was suggested the supporters of Gates, who ignored or denigrated Arnold’s key part in the battles of Saratoga, objected to the restitution of his seniority. Members of Congress would only gradually learn the truth. Nonetheless, since Arnold was grievously wounded there was sympathy for him. On November 29 the delegates, when adjusting other men’s ranks, finally agreed to issue a commission to restore the “rank & precedence” Arnold sought.22 The commission itself and attached message written by Henry Laurens, president of the Congress, was very grudging. It never mentioned Arnold’s spectacular deeds on the battlefields and other outstanding service. Laurens merely wrote politely, “Permit me to assure you sir I respect your character as a citizen and soldier of the United States of America, that I rejoice at your recovery from the dangerous wounds which you lately received in the defense of your country, that I wish you perfect health and a continued succession of honor.”23 Not only was his leadership and valor never mentioned but there was something in Laurens’s personal note that implied that he was speaking for himself, not the delegates. On January 20 Washington wrote from Valley Forge with Arnold’s commission, apologizing for his tardiness. Whatever the aspersions on his character by others, the commander clearly held Arnold in the highest esteem and understood who the actual hero of Saratoga was. “May I venture to ask whether you are upon your legs again,” Washington inquired, “and if you are not, may I flatter myself you will be soon? There is none, who wishes more sincerely for this event, than I do or who will receive the information with more pleasure. I shall expect a favorable account upon this subject, and as soon as your situation will permit, I request that you will repair to this Army, it being my earnest wish to have your services in the ensuing campaign.”24 


Arnold had endured the indignity of having been passed over for promotion by five men junior to him, none of whom had been so distinguished, putting the cause ahead of his pride. He had endured other aspersions on his honor for the same reason. Benjamin Lincoln, however, who as one of these five officers now junior to Arnold, was so upset that Arnold was to get seniority over him, he apparently considered resigning in protest. Washington soothed Lincoln’s feelings, honoring both Arnold and Lincoln with handsome gifts of epaulets and sword knots sent to him by an admiring French gentleman.


By late February Lincoln was able to travel. On February 23, helped by his son, he arrived at his family home at Hingham, Massachusetts.25 Arnold would spend that winter in Albany, still unable to walk. By late winter or early spring he finally left the hospital, still grievously disabled. Passing through Kinderhook, New York on his way home to Connecticut, a doorpost of the house he was to stay in had to be removed to permit his litter to enter.26 He was carried on to Middletown, Connecticut receiving a grand reception. He spent several weeks at Middletown, only a day’s journey from New Haven, resting and recuperating at the home of his old friend, Comfort Sage. Sage was, like Arnold, a successful merchant and served as a lieutenant colonel in the Connecticut militia. While there Arnold learned to walk on crutches. He and Sage discussed various financial opportunities to help replenish his depleted fortune and Arnold became part owner of a privateer. Finally, on May 4, he reached New Haven and his own home where his dear sister, Hannah, and young sons awaited him.27 An enthusiastic crowd turned out to welcome him back—military officers, militia members, local dignitaries, friends, and neighbors. He was home for the first time in just over a year.


As the long days in the hospital had stretched into weeks and then months of pain, impatience, and frustration, Arnold couldn’t shake from his mind the triumphs and turmoils of his life, his pursuit of honor, and the growing numbers of his detractors. He had become a hero to many Americans in and out of the military but an enemy to others. He was generally disliked by Congress, where soldiers, especially popular ones unwilling to spend time courting the delegates, were regarded with suspicion. Because he was held in high esteem by Washington and General Schuyler, their enemies regarded him as an enemy. His every daring and heroic deed was branded by his detractors as sheer recklessness, bravado, self-aggrandizement. Congressmen sitting comfortably through endless meetings, insisting on approving every promotion, questioning the patriotism of any officer who suffered a defeat, doling out niggling funds to the troops, and leaving them in wretched condition, demanded he account for any perceived financial irregularity. These men who never saw a battlefield during the war for independence set themselves up to judge him, who had risked his life time after time, and generously gave of his fortune to help the cause. He was tired of it all, all the personal animosities, all the carping, the constant pain. His whole life seemed to have led up to that moment on Bemis Heights, stripped of all command but commanding the love and loyalty of the men in the decisive battle of the Revolution. Had that musket ball pierced his heart rather than his leg, bringing death at the moment of his greatest triumph, he would have died one of America’s greatest heroes. He wanted to lay down his life for honor and the patriot cause. Having lost his chance to die for the cause, could he live for it in this reduced state, seeing Gates honored for his work, bedeviled by men determined to vilify him? How to maintain dignity and respect in these circumstances?




TWO


Great Expectations


Arnold, looking back later, was painfully aware it was a single-minded drive for honor and respect which shaped his entire life that brought him to a court-martial table. But what more worthy passion could a man have? Had not the men who signed the Declaration of Independence famously pledged to each other “our lives, our fortunes, and our sacred honor.”1 Honor was sacred. Particularly in a country of self-made men, honor mattered deeply because a man’s stature and reputation were in his own hands. Birth of course helped, class and education helped, and the Arnold family was blessed with illustrious beginnings in the New World and again at the time of Arnold’s birth. But the boundless possibilities, the great expectations for the boy’s future, were sadly squandered by the father who had bestowed them. By Benedict’s twelfth birthday his family’s honor and reputation were gone, sunk in shame and public humiliation. The responsibility to restore his own and his family’s honor had fallen to him and him alone. If there had been no great expectations to begin with, if they had not been dashed so cruelly, everything might have been different. He might have borne with more patience this loss of respect. Honor might have mattered less.


Benedict’s great-great grandfather, the first American Benedict Arnold, sailed from England to the Massachusetts Bay Colony with his family in 1636, not long after the arrival of its first planters. The Arnolds settled in the little port village of Hingham south of Boston. Within a year they were off again following the upstart Roger Williams into the wilderness and helping him found his new, more tolerant colony of Rhode Island. That first Benedict Arnold was an extraordinary man. He succeeded Roger Williams as president of the infant colony then went on to serve several terms as its governor. He was as enterprising as he was public-spirited—a successful farmer and shrewd merchant, reputed to be the richest man in the colony.2 What a model of honor, probity, and reputation for a boy to ponder and hope to emulate.


The problem was that as a thoughtful parent, Governor Arnold abandoned the English pattern of primogeniture and divided his property among his five sons. That pattern continued for several generations. The inevitable result was that the early fortune was dissipated and succeeding generations were left to fend for themselves with uneven success. Benedict’s own father, another Benedict, and his father’s younger brother Oliver had no great expectations at all. They were two younger sons in a family of six children. Their older brother, Caleb, seems to have inherited their father’s 140-acre farm.3 Their legacy was to be apprenticed as coopers, a useful trade but one offering a limited future.
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Growing up, Benedict’s own father was held up as a model for him. Captain Arnold had been poor in property, but blessed with the Arnold family’s courage, charm, intelligence, and sound business instincts. About 1730 he and his brother Oliver left their home in Providence, Rhode Island, heading west and settling in the town of Norwich in eastern Connecticut. While a more modest community than Providence, Norwich was a good choice. It was a thriving inland port of some five thousand residents. The town comprised six villages occupying the narrow and beautiful valley of the Yantic and Shetucket rivers that flowed south and east joining the Thames River estuary south of the town. With this location Norwich was perfectly placed for both seafaring and inland trade. It was a center of shipbuilding. Local captains sailed the Atlantic bringing back goods that could be easily transported and sold to farmers and townsmen in inland communities. Norwich’s own fine stands of woodland were interspersed with family farms that managed to yield decent crops from rather indifferent soil. The town was also the land of the famed Mohegan Indians, still much in evidence in the eighteenth century. Its waterfront’s wharves and warehouses were bustling as ships docked, loaded or unloaded cargo, and sailed off. In contrast the town’s central square seemed quietly sedate, with its timeless symbols of provincial life. There stood a courthouse with jail conveniently nearby, several taverns, a churchyard, and an array of businesses backed by some fine meadows. Norwich’s many better homes, some with river views, were typical of the time, with their large central chimneys, spacious rooms, and unpainted wooden exteriors. Their interiors were being increasingly furnished with European luxuries, the fruits of the town’s shipping trade.


The young cooper found work in Norwich with Absolom King, a prosperous merchant and captain. Like many enterprising merchants in Norwich at that time, King sailed his own ships to ports in Europe and the Caribbean. On the way back from a voyage to Ireland in September 1732, he died at sea, leaving his lovely wife Hannah to mourn him.4 Hannah was a young woman of twenty-five, of “good exterior and estimable qualities.” She belonged to the large Waterman family and was related to the Lathrops, one of the oldest and wealthiest Norwich families.5 The cooper courted the widow and on November 8, 1733, just over a year after King’s death, Benedict’s parents were wed.6At a stroke Benedict’s father’s fortunes changed. While his brother Oliver remained a cooper the rest of his life, Benedict’s father gave up the craft and took over the King business and property. The landsman turned into an able seaman. With great panache he followed in Absolom King’s footsteps and took to the sea, sailing north to Canada, south along the American coast as far as the Caribbean, and across the sea to England buying and selling cargoes. With the profits he built a fine, large house for his growing family with a shop next door where the goods purchased on his journeys were sold. In addition to his thriving business and frequent travels, Arnold’s father emulated that first Rhode Island Benedict Arnold by devoting himself to community work. He served as a collector, a selectman, a constable, and a militia captain. He became known as Captain Arnold.


Five years after their marriage Hannah and Benedict had their first child, a son who, as custom dictated, was named after his father. Sadly their first little Benedict died less than a year later when a wave of diphtheria, a fearsome child killer, swept through the area.7 Two years later, on January 3, 1741, a frigid winter day, a second son was born.8 They also named him Benedict and, probably fearing he too might die young, hurried their tiny infant off in the wintry cold to Norwich’s First Congregational Church for the Reverend Benjamin Lord to baptize. The congregation of family, friends, and neighbors prayed for the baby and welcomed him into the faith. Another year and baby Hannah, Benedict’s dear sister, was born. Then came Mary and another son, Absolom King, named for Hannah’s first husband. Last, in 1749 when Benedict was eight, baby Elizabeth was born. Little Absolom died when he was only two and a half, leaving Benedict his parents’ only son.


The joy and hopefulness of his childhood made its sad and sudden close hard for that only son. Benedict’s mother and father were devoted parents. It was a privileged and carefree time, full of grand possibilities. The boy had forests to explore. Mohegan Indians lived nearby. And the woods still harbored some exciting wildlife. Most of the wolves and even foxes had been exterminated but Norwich had an impressive number of bothersome snakes, particularly rattlesnakes and black snakes. The town was keen to eradicate them. Bounties were offered for bringing in a rattle or other proof a snake had been killed. Just before Benedict’s birth the bounty for killing snakes was raised to 10 shillings a head, although the snake killer was obliged to take an oath that he or she went out for no other purpose than to destroy snakes. Some Norwich women availed themselves of the opportunity to earn money this way. Tales of their prowess abounded. One year the Widow Woodworth was paid a bounty for twenty-three snakes and the Widow Smith for nine.9


Benedict’s childhood also had all the trappings of colonial civility. He lived in one of the finest houses in the town, staffed with servants and slaves. He was surrounded by a loving, prosperous, and prominent family. During the summers when Benedict was old enough his father took him on some of his voyages. Together they shared the excitement of Atlantic crossings and visiting ports from Canada to the Caribbean. It was a wonderful introduction to the sea and to his father’s business. But his father had other aims for his son.


Captain Arnold had never had the opportunity for more than a rudimentary education. Hannah was well educated for a woman of the time but women did not attend college or go into the professions. Both parents were determined to give their son the best schooling available, one that would open doors to future opportunities. Britain’s American colonies were more egalitarian than the Home Country but class still mattered, and education helped assure a better status.


Benedict was first sent to a school run by Dr. Jewett in the village of Montville, just south of Norwich.10 Hannah pressed Jewett to instill in her son “the first rudiments of religion and enforce virtue and explode all manner of vice.”11 If young Benedict proved “backward and unteachable,” she wrote, “pray don’t be soon discouraged.” She urged the schoolmaster not to “spare the rod and spoil the child.” It is unclear how often that rod needed to be applied to this small boy, but applying it was standard practice at the time, considered a duty by parents and teachers intent that youngsters become God-fearing and virtuous adults. If Benedict resented Hannah’s pious admonitions to her children to trust in God, and children easily tire of pious admonitions, he found himself echoing them when he had children of his own.12


In 1752 when Benedict was eleven it was time for more advanced schooling. With great pride and fanfare his mother and father arranged for him to go to Canterbury, Connecticut some twelve miles from Norwich to board with a relation of Benedict’s father, the Reverend James Cogswell. Like many ministers of the time, Rev. Cogswell took in boys and schooled them in the classics.13 The aim was to prepare them for higher education and, for some of them, the ministry. At Canterbury Benedict found himself laboring at the classic subjects required for learned men—Latin, the Bible, logic, mathematics, rhetoric, and history. Most of Cogswell’s pupils were destined to be enrolled at Yale College in New Haven. That was presumably Benedict’s parents’ plan for him, but he was not to be one of those fortunate sons.14


He was a lively, even bold boy but didn’t consider himself unruly or brave. Enemies then and since have told stories of misbehavior and even cruelty, behavior that might have been written off later as high spirits in any other boy. As the only son in a family of daughters, Benedict felt the need to prove his bravery, to play the manly part. Yet, keen as people were to find fault in later years he was remembered as having picked fights with the stronger boys, always protecting the weaker children.15 However boisterous and spirited he was, Benedict loved and respected his parents. He carefully kept the letters his mother wrote him while he was away at school. Five of these survive.16 They are full of a mother’s reminders to be pious and diligent. “Keep a steady watch over your thoughts and actions,” Hannah wrote him, “be dutiful to superiors, obliging to equals, and affable to inferiors, if any such there be. Always choose that your companions be your betters, that by their good examples, you may learn.”17 How many children of that time heard the same sound advice, perhaps in the very same words! Hannah then tucked shillings into that letter that he was to spend “prudently, as you are accountable to God and your father.”18


In 1753 while Benedict was away from home boarding in Canterbury, a terrible plague descended on Norwich. The highly contagious and deadly disease, diphtheria, struck the town. Adults sometimes became sick from diphtheria and pulled through. Most of its victims were children. It was one of the three most feared childhood killers in an age of childhood scourges.19 Hannah wrote to convey the dreadful news that his sisters Hannah, Mary, and little Elizabeth were deathly ill and that she and the captain were sick. His entire family was sick and possibly dying. Hannah’s fears for her son’s own health leap from the page: “My dear, God seems to be saying to all, ‘Children, be ye also ready!’” She pleaded, “improve your time and beg God to grant His spirit, or death may overtake you unprepared. . . . Your groaning sisters give love to you. God may mete you with this disease wherever you be, for it is His servant, but I would not have you come home for fear it should be presumption.” His distraught mother nonetheless closed her letter: “My love to you—beg you will write us. I have sent you one pound chocolate.”20


Dr. Benjamin Rush, the renowned colonial physician, referred to diphtheria as malignant sore throat. It was commonly described as “throat distemper” since the white fibers it produced in the throat quickly covered it. Fever followed with a rapid pulse, breathing problems, and lastly paralysis of the throat and heart failure. Death usually occurred within a week. The disease was spread through respiratory droplets from a cough or sneeze, and once exposed symptoms began to appear in two to five days. There was no cure.21 A deadly diphtheria epidemic struck Philadelphia in 1763, ten years after the Norwich outbreak, killing hundreds of children.
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Hannah wrote to Benedict again on August 12 to tell him, “deaths are multiplied all around us and more daily expected.”22 In her letter of August 30 Benedict learned with some relief, “your poor sisters are yet in the land of the living.” Mary, who had been “just stepping on the banks of time” was “something revived,” but poor Hannah was “waxing weaker and weaker.”23 His father was “very poor” and his mother “had a touch of the distemper” although “through divine goodness it is past of [sic] light with me.” How was a boy to concentrate on memorizing those Latin verbs and mastering mathematics while his sisters and parents were grievously sick at home?


As it turned out it was eight-year-old Mary, “something revived” on August 30 who died. Nineteen days later little four-year-old Elizabeth passed away. Miraculously his sister Hannah, who had been “waxing weaker and weaker,” was spared along with his parents. Of the six Arnold children only Benedict and Hannah would survive to adulthood. It was a fearful toll.


Misery continued knocking on the Arnold door even after the sad loss of his two sisters. In fact, their troubles had begun even before the deaths of Mary and Elizabeth. Benedict’s father’s business was in serious decline. As a merchant who served as his own captain sailing from port to port on risky voyages buying and selling cargoes, everything depended on his energy, his skill, and his enterprise. His personal relationships with suppliers and customers were all-important. But Captain Arnold’s hard drinking, typical of the time and seafaring vocation, gradually became more and more uncontrolled and debilitating. It is unclear whether his business decline had caused the drinking, or the drinking caused the business decline. The latter seems most likely since the 1750s were overall a prosperous time for American long distance trade. Sea travel had become generally less dangerous, port times had shortened significantly, and insurance costs had decreased dramatically.24 The French and Indian War actually increased trade. Arnold’s business ought to have been flourishing. Perhaps bad luck or overextending his resources was the cause of his difficulties. How was a young schoolboy to know or understand the true circumstances of his father’s collapse? He only knew and felt the result. When Hannah wrote Benedict on August 12 of the dangers of the disease raging in Norwich and urged her son not to “neglect your precious soul, which once lost can never be regained,” she may have been thinking of her husband’s growing addiction. His hard drinking was increasingly interfering with his work and life and imperiling his very soul.25 It was terrible for a wife to watch. The sudden and painful deaths of his two little daughters added to Captain Arnold’s grief. Had their deaths been his fault? Was God punishing him for his pride or drinking by taking his children? Is that what his wife thought? Unworthy as he was, he had recovered from the disease that had killed his innocent little girls. In his despair Captain Arnold turned away from God and prayer, and to the bottle. Benedict’s much-loved father was increasingly unable to lead or even support his family.


Captain Arnold was not alone in succumbing to drink. Drinking was, or was certainly thought to be, a serious problem in colonial Connecticut from the earliest times. The Connecticut Assembly tackled the problem repeatedly, to little effect. One set of laws punished being drunk, another frequent drinking. In 1650 and 1709 the assembly passed laws punishing drunkenness with a ten-shilling fine.26 In 1676 the assembly turned its attention to habitual drinking with a law “to prevent the increase of drunkenness,” ordering constables to take “special care to notice” every person who frequents taverns and bars and to require them to forbear frequenting the places.” This law added, “if such person does not heed the warning and is found in such a place, he must forfeit five shillings or sit in the stocks for an hour.” Thirty years later the fine for drunkenness remained ten shillings but with a five-shilling penalty for drinking after nine o’clock in the evening.27 If the drinker was unable to pay he was to sit for one to three hours in the stocks. In 1716 the colony ordered that magistrates and other officials were to post the names of so-called “tavern-haunters” on the doors of every tavern in the town. Clearly this was a means of public shaming. Moreover, a listed tavern-haunter who entered a tavern was fined either twenty shillings, double the earlier fine or, if he could not pay, had to sit in the stocks for two hours unless he could find two sureties willing to take responsibility for his good behavior. A “common drunkard” could be incarcerated. For better or worse Hannah’s Lathrop relatives owned a tavern in Norwich and presumably extended credit to the Captain until his name appeared on the shameful list of tavern-haunters. Drinking in moderation was accepted but excessive drinking was considered a grave moral failing. Norwich residents were regarded as conspicuous examples of “Connecticut Steady Habits,” and moral failings were to be forcefully discouraged.28 Colonial taverns were meant to be located near a church, the better for members to see who frequented them. The presence of the church, it was hoped, would be a silent admonition for those planning on entering a tavern. Captain Arnold’s increasing alcoholism, with its eventual physical and mental deterioration threatened not only to destroy his shipping business but to bring very public disgrace to himself and his wife and children.


Poor Hannah! Despite her piety and prayers after losing two sons, she had just lost her two youngest daughters. There would be no further children. That terrible loss together with her husband’s failing business, his depression, and increasing alcoholism, might have driven a weaker woman to drink as well. But Hannah was made of sterner stuff. She now shouldered responsibility for holding her family together and keeping her husband’s business going. She was successful for a time.


In 1754, the year after his sisters’ deaths, the Arnolds still managed to pay Benedict’s school fees. In April his mother sent him fifty shillings and his father added twenty shillings for his personal expenses. But Captain Arnold’s condition and with it the family business continued to deteriorate. In late summer Hannah wrote Benedict that his father’s health was so poor he wasn’t certain he could make the short sail to Newport, Rhode Island.29 By the new year Hannah and Captain Arnold with great reluctance felt they had no choice but to give up their dream for their only son. Even by scrimping, they did not have the money to pay Benedict’s school fees. The great expectations for his future, the chance for a college education that would place him among the colony’s elite, vanished.


If it was a difficult decision for them it was worse for Benedict. He faced the humiliation of having to leave school and return home to Norwich. The return would be public. Everyone would know what had happened: his school friends, his neighbors, everyone. The cooper’s son would have to start his career with no better advantage than his own father had. Worse actually, because while Grandfather Arnold was a respectable farmer of modest means with little to give his six children, Benedict had the bitter disappointment of a sudden collapse of his hopes, coupled with public shame and debt. If he was to acquire personal honor after this deep disgrace, Benedict would have to earn it himself.




THREE


Descent


In the bitter cold of the new year Benedict packed up his clothes and his books, reluctantly turned his back on his Canterbury school, and journeyed home to Norwich. The bleak, frosty weather mirrored his mood. The contrast between the bustling life at the Canterbury school and the grim reality of his home was stark. No more lively society of boys living away from home, bubbling over with chatter and pranks. No more camaraderie chafing under the discipline of the Reverend Cogswell, laboring over the subjects necessary to make them educated men. The arrival of his mother’s letters had linked the two worlds and punctured his Canterbury existence from time to time, bringing news of the troubles at home. But Norwich had seemed very distant, quite out of sight, and could be forgotten for hours at a stretch in the press of school activities. Now there was no escape. As soon as he arrived he was engulfed by those family problems, but too young to help resolve them. Worse, his mere presence was a constant reminder to his mother and father of their own failure.


The spacious Arnold home seemed silent and empty without Mary and Elizabeth. The survivors, Benedict and Hannah, were grateful for each other’s company, but the sad loss of their little sisters was impossible to forget. Benedict’s father, with whom he had shared wonderful summers sailing in the family’s vessels to exotic ports, had been transformed from a successful merchant and respected town official to a sick and irascible man, sunk in depression. Alcohol was robbing him of his personality and competence, yet his family could not stop him from dulling his mind with drink. Benedict’s loving and kindly mother was preoccupied, frantically attempting to keep the shipping business and shop functioning, while running the household and struggling to pay the bills. When Benedict could be of no help to her it seemed best he stay out of the way. He wandered the town and its woodlands and meadows. He met the Mohegan Indian Chief Benjamin Uncas who befriended the boy and taught him native ways of fishing and hunting, of horseback riding and canoeing.1 This very different education, more active and exciting, helped shape him into the confident warrior and outdoorsman he was destined to become. It also distracted him from the increasing anxiety he and his family were enduring.


The Arnold family’s slide into indebtedness and disgrace might have passed undetected in a large city, but in Norwich little escaped public notice. Neighbors knew each other well. They met weekly in church and almost daily at the market or down by the docks. They enjoyed a good gossip. Public shame for questionable acts helped ensure that the people of Norwich behaved in a proper and moral manner. Morality encompassed the virtues of sobriety, piety, and fiscal responsibility. In this setting it was nearly impossible to disguise business failure or moral failings, especially any slippage by someone who had been prosperous and prominent, someone of whom more was expected. There was general sympathy for Benedict’s long-suffering mother. But Arnold’s father was a relative newcomer, a cooper who had married into money and position. That fact would not have passed unremarked.


This puritanical streak in its citizenry had not abated much from Connecticut’s earliest days. The tendency was fortified and perpetuated by the colony’s assembly that continued to demand godly behavior through relentless and detailed social legislation. Local justices of the peace were kept busy ruling on instances of alleged impropriety. The efforts of Richard Hide, a justice of the peace in mid-eighteenth-century Norwich, demonstrates what the Arnolds could expect. The case of a resident presented “for profane swearing” because he had “been heard to say at the public house—damn me,” was typical. For this outburst he was fined six shillings and had to pay court costs of six shillings, three pence.2 Another blasphemer received the same six-shilling fine for blurting out, “Go to the devil.” In 1771 two women reported a young woman for laughing during a religious service. Hide showed mercy to the young woman in question and she was dismissed with a reprimand. Ebenezer Waterman Jr. did not get off so lightly. He was hauled before a grand jury for profaning the Sabbath by talking “in the time of divine service in a merry manner, to make sport.” He pleaded guilty and was fined ten shillings.


It was not just during church services that good deportment was expected. The entire Sabbath day was to be spent in religious observance or quiet activity. Five young residents—Asa Fuller, an apprentice, Ede Trap, Lemuel Wentworth, Hannah Forsey, and Elizabeth Winship, a minor—were hauled before Justice Hide after witnesses reported that “on the evening following the 27th of May last, it being Sabbath, or Lord’s Day evening,” the youngsters did “meet and convene together, and walk in the street in company, upon no religious occasion, all which is contrary to the statute of this colony in such case.” It was in this setting Hannah Arnold and her two children were trying to shield Captain Arnold’s alcoholism from public scrutiny and the disgrace and punishment that must follow.


The year Benedict turned fourteen events came to a head. Hannah’s attempt to run the family business with her husband’s fitful help and to pay the bills failed, and that failure set in motion a new plan for Benedict’s future. If any woman could have salvaged the Arnold business, Hannah was that woman. Under the law married women had little control over their own property, let alone an opportunity for business activity. Of course Hannah was better educated than most women and a capable and well-respected member of the community. Moreover, like many wives of seafaring merchants gone for months at a time, she had needed to assume financial responsibility when Captain Arnold was away.3 As an Englishman explained it at the time, while a married woman’s property rights were limited, a woman “in her husband’s absence is wife and deputy-husband, which makes her double the files of her diligence.”4 Now, as her husband became less and less able to manage himself let alone his business, she took over as much as she could. The accounting and record-keeping could be managed, and maybe basic buying and selling.5 The voyages were another thing. A great deal had depended on the Captain’s quick eye for a bargain and his contacts among producers and other merchants. In the end Hannah was unable to keep the shipping business afloat. In a time of booming sea trade the Arnold business collapsed. Benedict’s father could no longer pay his debts.


Failure to pay a debt was not just an embarrassment, it was a crime. There was no public bankruptcy law in Connecticut.6 Men unable to pay their business or private debts were sent to prison until they could pay. Conditions in these prisons were awful. There were no separate prisons for the scores of convicted debtors unable to meet their obligations. They were simply tossed in with ordinary criminals to languish until somehow rescued.


The awful reckoning came one morning. The sheriff knocked at the door of the fine house Captain Arnold had built, demanding payment of the family debts.7 They had to tell him they simply did not have the money. He immediately began seizing and removing their personal possessions to the value of the money owed. The Arnolds were able to keep basic items, since the law stipulated that a debtor was to be left “bedding, tools, arms, and implements of his household necessary for upholding his life.”8 The seizure of their possessions was very upsetting and very public. The sheriff warned that worse was in store. Unless Captain Arnold could come up with the funds he owed in twenty days his property would be sold at public auction.


In this wretched circumstance Hannah was either sufficiently desperate to plead for help from her Lathrop relatives, or they came forward unasked to spare her and her family the misery of public disgrace. Whichever it was, her Lathrop relatives came to the rescue. The Lathrops were an extraordinarily prosperous and generous family, especially brothers Daniel and Joshua Lathrop. Both had been educated at Yale College and Daniel had then sailed to England where he spent three years studying medicine. He had returned to set up an apothecary business with Joshua. The two were not only the first pharmacists in Norwich, but Dr. Daniel Lathrop was the first trained pharmacist in all of Connecticut. The business he and Joshua established was the sole apothecary business along the entire route from Boston to New York.9 It provided a crucial service and the brothers prospered accordingly. They purchased shiploads of medical goods from England and grew their own medicinal herbs in large gardens. Gossip reported that a single shipment of drugs they imported was worth £8,000.10


With a close relative about to be dispossessed and jailed for debt, Daniel Lathrop agreed to pay the £300 needed to keep Captain Arnold out of prison and save his possessions from public auction.11 The Lathrops also took over the mortgage on the Arnold house to ensure the family would not lose their home. But their timely rescue also involved young Benedict. The Lathrops accepted the fourteen-year-old Benedict as an apprentice. They promised to look after him and instruct him in their trade. Benedict’s parents readily agreed and signed a standard seven-year apprenticeship contract that would provide their only son preparation for a lucrative career. It would also bind him to work for the Lathrops until he was twenty-one.


For Benedict this was a dramatic transition. It meant moving from his tense and depressing family home to Dr. Daniel Lathrop’s waterfront Georgian mansion with its lavish formal gardens, and beginning professional training. If Benedict’s parents were unable to give him a university education, they were at least providing him something far better than the training his own father had. The apothecary profession was respected and respectable. The Lathrops would also teach Benedict how to run a business. He would start out in life far better off than any cooper’s apprentice. Leaving home was also a financial relief for his hard-pressed parents. And he hadn’t moved far. He remained in the same town as his family and could keep in close contact. However he may have felt about his father’s behavior and incompetence, however much he regretted being deprived of higher education, Benedict never uttered any condemnation of the man whose weaknesses led to the family ruin and his own diminished hopes.


Life with the Lathrops was more than comfortable. Both Daniel and his wife Jerusha treated him like a son.12 The couple had no children of their own. Their wealth hadn’t spared them from domestic tragedy. Some years before Benedict’s arrival their own three little children had died in infancy. Daniel and Jerusha were happy to have youngsters to raise and were ready to lavish their affection upon them. Benedict was very fortunate. Jerusha was the daughter of Joseph Talcott, the first native-born governor of Connecticut.13 She was a few years younger than Benedict’s mother, but like Hannah, she was an educated and cultivated woman. The latest books filled the house. While Benedict missed the opportunity for a formal university education he was being schooled in the behavior and culture of a gentleman. There was another boy, Solomon Smith, who was also being trained by the Lathrops in the apothecary trade along with Benedict. How strange to be living in luxury not far from where his parents and sister were struggling to make ends meet and to avoid further shame. It was important to make a success of his training and through his own hard work repay the Lathrops for their loan and kindness, and benefit himself and his mother, father, and sister.


Life went on. The Arnold family scrimped, tried to control the Captain’s drinking, and managed. Benedict worked hard for the Lathrops. He was attentive and serious about learning the basic concepts and particulars of their interesting profession. He had to memorize the virtues and composition of a great variety of medicines. The apothecary workshop was full of the scent of drying herbs and lined with shelf after shelf crowded with bottles of elixirs and powders. Observing how the Lathrop brothers ran their booming business was also fascinating. There was constant activity. Ships unloaded cargoes and set sail again. Their warehouses were kept busy receiving and unpacking stock, then packing wagons for delivery to customers along the coast and into the interior. It was complex and interesting work. Between his responsibilities as an apprentice and his efforts to help his family he was fully occupied. But when Benedict was sixteen the outside world suddenly intruded.


Military disaster loomed. The French were threatening to seize control of New York, imperiling New England. He was old enough to enlist in the Connecticut militia and anxious to participate. This first military experience would be brief. Yet the terrible events that occasioned his service and the furious anti-French feelings they provoked colored the rest of his life. Years later when Arnold wrote to his fellow Americans to explain why he had abandoned their cause, he was to blame it on the alliance they had forged with the French.




FOUR


The Fortunes of War


War between the French and English peoples had been going on in Europe for as long as anyone could remember. Once each country had colonies in North America the competition quite naturally spread across the Atlantic. England’s colonies suffered repeatedly from full-scale conflicts and sporadic raids on their settlements by the soldiers of New France and their Indian allies. The French and Indians would swoop down the Atlantic coast or along the rivers of the western frontier plundering, burning houses and barns, terrorizing and slaughtering the men, women, and children. New Englanders, in particular, lived with the dread of invasions from Canada. Ordinarily the colonists were left to defend themselves. Every colony had a militia of able-bodied men between the ages of sixteen and sixty.1 Its members were required to keep arms and ammunition at the ready and were drilled several times a year. They were no match for professional, European regulars, but they had the advantage of being men fighting for their homes and farms on ground they knew.


This new war was different. For the first time the British sent a large, professional army to the New World to defend their colonies. They hoped to evict the French from the Ohio Valley and carry the battle to New France. The French, for their part, sent reinforcements to Canada. In 1754, the year Benedict had to leave Canterbury, the war that Americans would call the French and Indian War broke out. In Britain it was dubbed the Seven Years War as the North American conflict expanded to become part of a worldwide struggle between the two ancient rivals. An ambitious young Virginian whom Benedict would come to know so very well, Colonel George Washington, played a prominent role in the events on the American frontier that triggered the war. Both the British and the French reinforced their troops by mobilizing local militia and recruiting Indian tribes as allies. The French, however, would fight, as they often did, with Indian warriors who were difficult to control and notorious for their brutal tactics. Some warriors traveled from beyond the Mississippi River to fight for the French with the promise of plunder and trophies. French commanders made a point of using their Indian allies’ reputation for atrocities to terrorize the colonists. Most of the fighting was concentrated along the frontier where many tribes lived and in New York around Lake Ontario, the Mohawk Valley of central New York, and the colony’s eastern watershed of Lake Champlain and Lake George.


Norwich men had been involved from the beginning. Connecticut had mobilized its militia as Benedict was beginning his apprenticeship in 1755. It called up militia recruits again the following year, 1756, to assist the British regulars. Every town had a quota of men to contribute. Bachelors were conscripted first, young men with no dependents. Some were poor men but many were merely waiting to inherit family property and marry. Benedict was busy with his apprenticeship both years and anyway he was too young to participate.2 But in 1757 when he turned sixteen there was a sudden emergency. The war had taken a frightening turn. With dismay verging on panic New Englanders learned that the French seemed about to gain control of upstate New York.


It was not as if the British had done well in 1756. In May of that year Major General Louis-Joseph de Montcalm arrived in Montreal to command French forces bringing additional troops. He moved quickly and methodically. Barely three months after his arrival he attacked Fort Oswego some 250 miles away at the western end of Lake Ontario. The fort fell. Montcalm captured 1700 prisoners and 121 cannon. The loss of Fort Oswego upset British plans to attack French forts on Lake Ontario and to invade Canada.


In contrast to Montcalm’s focused strategy, British campaign plans had been a confusion of orders, counterorders, fits, and starts. A new British commander in chief, John Campbell, Lord Loudoun, had arrived like Montcalm in 1756. He was replacing William Shirley, governor of Massachusetts. Shirley had planned an expedition against French forts on Lake Ontario for 1756 but when Loudoun finally reached Albany in late July he canceled Shirley’s plan.


With winter coming on, the French would have been expected to wait for spring to begin a new campaign. Instead they spent the winter harassing British forts and settlements. The Marquis de Vaudreuil, governor of New France, incited Indian tribes to attack British settlements on the frontier while his own troops went after British forts and supplies. He was much more enthusiastic about the use of Indians than Montcalm, who disliked the Indian insistence on fighting in their own way and the brutality they practiced. He had only a slightly better opinion of the Canadian militia, but the shortage of trained troops would force the general to employ both.3 While the French were busy eroding British strength and morale, British commanders continued to plan to no effect. Loudoun spent the winter organizing a summer campaign against Quebec, the capital of New France, proposing to leave some troops at Fort William Henry to mislead Montcalm. But as he was working out the details for his 1757 campaign, counterorders arrived from London. William Pitt, secretary of state for the colonies insisted the fortress at Louisbourg in Nova Scotia be attacked first. Loudoun dutifully changed course. As he was approaching the new target, however, he discovered that a French fleet had eluded the British blockade of France and was already at anchor off Louisbourg. If he attacked he would be seriously outnumbered. Taking the prudent course he abruptly called off the operation and returned to New York City. As for protection of New York’s forts and waterways, it was not until July of 1757, the middle of the traditional campaign season, that a new British general, James Abercrombie, reached Albany. Abercrombie, like Loudoun, was a careful man and reluctant to take any important action without Loudoun’s approval.
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